IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

- -	Case No. 71,760
MARIO D'OLEO-VALDEZ,	:
Petitioner	;
vs.	:
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Respondent	. :

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Susan S. Lerner, Special Assistant Public Defender Counsel for D'Oleo-Valdez Biscayne Building, Suite 705 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-5999

INTRODUCTION

This initial brief on the merits is filed on behalf of the petitioner, Mario D'Oleo-Valdez ("Valdez"). Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.210 mandates the trial court, without regard to defense motion, to appoint two experts and conduct a hearing upon finding reasonable grounds to believe the defendant is incompetent to stand trial. The issue is whether the absence of a defense counsel objection waives complaint on appeal that the trial court committed reversible error by using only one expert.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State charged Valdez with trafficking in cocaine after Valdez, carrying luggage containing the drug, was arrested at the Miami International Airport (R. 1-1A). One month before

trial, defense counsel filed a letter from psychiatrist Milton Burglass:

I am unable to formulate a final diagnostic impression of [Valdez] at this time. It is my professional opinion that he requires inpatient hospitalization to undergo a complete psychiatric evaluation and determination of competency. I therefore recommend that you petition the Court for an order to that effect. [S.R. 2].

The trial court ordered Jackson Memorial Hospital to examine Valdez after concluding:

It appearing unto this Court that there are reasonable grounds to believe that defendant is not mentally competent to stand trial, or that defendant may have been insane at the time of the commission of the alleged offense, it is CONSIDERED, ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that defendant be examined as to the issues of competency to stand trial, need for involuntary hospitalization, insanity at the time of the alleged offense. [S.R. 3].

Dr. Lloyd Miller, a psychiatrist from the forensic service at Jackson Memorial Hospital evaluated Valdez and concluded Valdez was sane at the time of the offense and mentally competent to stand trial (S.R. 4-6).

The trial court did not conduct a formal hearing on competency. A semblance of a hearing occurred on the morning of trial, after defense counsel expressed his frustration in dealing with Valdez whom he characterized as irrational and unable to understand the proceedings (T. 4-6). The trial court responded that the report showed Valdez was "fine" (T. 5). At this point, defense counsel indicated his intent to rely on the insanity defense, but his only witness Dr. Burglass was unavailable.

Defense counsel asked to postpone the trial and the trial court refused (T. 4-9).

The case proceeded to trial upon the testimony of two detectives and Valdez. The detectives observed Valdez at the airport carrying two pieces of luggage (T. 60-72, 90-100). Another man who had been at the ticket counter came over to Valdez and gave a ticket to him. When the two men walked outside toward the parking lot, the detectives confronted them (T. 65-68). A narcotics dog indicated the baggage Valdez was carrying contained contraband (T. 70-71). Through a Spanish language interpreter, Valdez testified that the bags did not belong to him and he was unaware of their contents (T. 123-133).

The jury found Valdez guilty of trafficking in cocaine, and the trial court sentenced him to the mandatory fifteen year term and \$250,000 fine (R. 13-16). On appeal, Valdez sought new trial upon the trial court's failure to have two experts examine him after having decided the need for a competency determination. Valdez also challenged the trial court's refusal to postpone the trial and the prosecutor's improper closing remarks.

The Third District affirmed Valdez' conviction:

Because the number of examiners is merely a non-fundamental procedural matter ... we hold that the failure to bring the deviation from the rule to the trial court's attention effected a waiver of the contention. [D'Oleo-Valdez v. State, 516 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)].

Valdez obtained review upon conflict with <u>Graydon v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 502 So.2d 25 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) in which the Fourth

District found reversible error in the appointment of only one expert without regard to whether the defendant objected below.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITS REVERSIBLE ERROR, EVEN IN THE ABSENCE OF DEFENSE OBJECTION, BY USING ONLY ONE EXPERT TO EVALUATE A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCY AFTER FINDING REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THE DEFENDANT IS INCOMPETENT TO STAND TRIAL.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A judge's decision whether a defendant is competent to stand trial is an informed decision when made upon consideration of the opinion of two mental health experts. There is a difference of thought on whether defense counsel's failure to object to noncompliance with competency rules eliminates what would otherwise be reversible error. The better view and the view more consistent with Florida jurisprudence is that there is no waiver where the defense does nothing more than fail to object.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITS REVERSIBLE ERROR, EVEN IN THE ABSENCE OF DEFENSE OBJECTION, BY USING ONLY ONE EXPERT TO EVALUATE A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCY AFTER FINDING REASONABLE GROUNDS TO BELIEVE THE DEFENDANT IS INCOMPETENT TO STAND TRIAL.

While evaluation of a party's competency is ultimately a judicial decision, Florida requires its judges to make an informed decision upon the advice of mental health experts.

Poynter v. State, 443 So.2d 219 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (reversible

error for judge to ignore experts' uncontested testimony that defendant incompetent to stand trial); Harrell v. State, 296 So.2d 585, 586 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974) (mental competency to stand trial is legal question judicially decided after doctors render medical opinions). The view from the mental health community is that one professional opinion does not insure an accurate competency evaluation. Bonnie, Slobogin, The Role of Mental Health Professionals in the Criminal Process: The Case for Informed Speculation, 66 Va. L. Rev. 427, 505, 526 fn. 261 (1980).

Since 1980, the Florida legislature has statutorily acknowledged the necessity of appointing no fewer than two experts to decide competency to stand trial and other questions of a criminal defendant's mental health. Section 916.11, Fla. Stat. (1987) (created by Ch. 80-75, Laws of Fla. (1980)). court augmented the statute by adopting Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.210, which requires two experts on competency once the trial court has "reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is not mentally competent to stand trial." In Re Rules of Criminal Procedure, 389 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1980). Competency in the context of involuntary civil commitment, although different from competency to stand trial, is also decided upon more than one professional opinion. Since 1973, Florida has mandated the appointment of two mental health professionals on such commit-§394.467, Fla. Stat. (1987) (created by Ch. 73-133 §8, Laws of Fla. (1973)).

The courts of the State of New York, under a rule of criminal procedure similar to Rule 3.210, have consistently held that the failure to appoint two experts is reversible error. N.Y. [Crim. Proc.] Law section 730.20 mandates the designation of either two psychiatrists or one psychiatrist and one certified psychologist to examine a questionable defendant on the issue of competency. In People v. Armlin, 37 N.Y.2d 167, 371 N.Y.S.2d 691 (1975), the court held the defendant does not waive his right on appeal to insist upon compliance with the two expert procedure regardless of whether the defendant pleads guilty, does not object or does not bring the noncompliance to court's attention. See also, People v. Graham, 127 A.D.2d 443, 515 N.Y.S.2d 126 (1987) (violation of defendant's due process rights occurred where CPL Article 730 was not followed in that only one examination rather than two was done and no reports filed); People v. Mulholland, 129 A.D.2d 857, 514 N.Y.S.2d 135 (1987) (appointment of only one psychiatrist error; failure to provide defendant with examination by two psychiatrists as required by CPL 730.20 deprived him of his right to a full and impartial determination of his mental capacity to stand trial - remand for competency hearing); People v. Vallelunga, 101 A.D.2d 603, 474 N.Y.S.2d 857 (1984) (notwithstanding one psychiatrist report finding defendant competent, where court initiated inquiry under section 730, compliance with requirement of reports from two examining psychiatrists was mandatory); People v. Ross, 50 A.D.2d 1064, 375 N.Y.S.2d 714 (1975) (failure to appoint two psychiatrists to

examine defendant is not waived by failure to object or by entering a plea of guilty).

The State of Washington has a two expert rule similar to New York and Florida, (Wash. Rev. Code §10.77.060(1)) but it has suggested compliance with the rule is waivable. In <u>State v. Israel</u>, 19 Wash.App. 773, 577 P.2d 631 (1978), immediately before trial the prosecutor stated, "I would like to raise an issue of competency here of the defendant, pursuant to RCW 10.77.060(1) and have that resolved at this time." No experts were appointed to conduct an examination. Instead, the prosecutor and the trial court questioned the defendant after which the defense counsel stated that his client was competent. The trial court agreed and the case proceeded to trial. In a broadly worded opinion, the appellate court determined the rule was simply procedural and a defense counsel can waive the statutory requirement for the appointment of experts.

Given Florida's ingrained recognition of the necessity of more than one professional opinion on mental health matters and the unequivocal mandate of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.210, this court should adopt the New York courts' view that fewer than two experts is not a full and impartial determination of mental competence and is a denial of due process.

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.210 and case law, contemplate circumstances where defense counsel will entirely overlook the issue of competency, yet the trial judge will find reasonable grounds to doubt competency. State v. Tait, 387 So.2d

338, 341 (Fla. 1980) (rejected State's contention that defense counsel's failure to request competency hearing is a waiver notwithstanding existence of reasonable grounds for a hearing). The portion of the rule on appointment of experts does not distinguish between reasonable grounds arising from a defense motion and reasonable grounds arising from a court acting on its own. Once reasonable grounds exist, the trial court must appoint two experts. This court has only excused compliance where the defendant continuously refused to cooperate with the appointed experts. Muhammad v. State, 494 So.2d 969, 972 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 107 S.Ct. 1332 (1987); Gilliam v. State, 514 So.2d 1098 (Fla. 1987).

Here, Valdez did not refuse examination by a second expert. None was offered, notwithstanding the trial court's finding of reasonable grounds to believe Valdez was incompetent to stand trial. Valdez' due process rights were pushed aside further by the trial court's noncompliance with the hearing requirements under Rule 3.210. Cf. Copeland v. Wainwright, 505 So.2d 425, 429 (Fla. 1987) ("[A]lthough the trial court did not hold a formal adversarial hearing on competency, it did appoint a psychiatrist and two psychologists to examine appellant and make reports to the court. Based on these reports and the other information available, the court found appellant competent to stand trial.").

In recognition of the difficulty of determining in 1988 whether Valdez was competent to stand trial in 1985, this court

should vacate his conviction and sentence and order a proper competency evaluation under Rule 3.210. <u>Scott v. State</u>, 420 So.2d 595, 598 (Fla. 1982).

CONCLUSION

This court should quash the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal, vacate the conviction and sentence and remand for a proper determination of competency.

Susan S. Lerner, Special Assistant Public Defender Counsel for Valdez Biscayne Building, Suite 705 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-5999

Susan S. Lerner