#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,760

MARIO D'OLEO-VALDEZ,

Petitioner

vs.

MAY 07 233 C

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

jel

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. POLIN
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
Suite N-921
401 Northwest 2 Avenue
Miami, Florida 33128
(305) 377-5441

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

MARIO D'OLEO-VALDEZ was charged by Information with trafficking in cocaine. (R.1). On October 21, 1985, prior to trial, the trial judge entered a written order appointing JMH (Jackson Memorial Hospital) to evaluate D'Oleo-Valdez as to competency to stand trial, the need for involuntary hospitalization, and insanity at the time of the alleged offense. (SR.3). An evaluation, dated October 29, 1985 and filed on November 1, 1985, from Dr. Lloyd Miller, a psychiatrist with Jackson Memorial Hospital, concluded that D'Oleo-Valdez was competent to stand trial. (SR.4-6).

In addition to the report by Dr. Miller, D'Oleo-Valdez had obtained the services of Dr. Milton Burglass, a neuropsychiatrist, whose report of October 14, 1985, filed on October 21, 1985, concluded that D'Oleo-Valdez was "not presently able to be of assistance to you [defense counsel] in the conduct of his defense." (SR.1-2). Burglass opined that further examination was needed for a final evaluation. Id. D'Oleo-Valdez, an indigent defendant, was represented by the Public Defender, and had been declared insolvent for cost. (R.3).

Prior to the commencement of trial, defense counsel asserted that he had extreme difficulty in communicating with Mr. Valdez. (T.4). The judge responded that she understood

what counsel was saying, "but we have done it all." (T.4). Defense counsel then indicated he was filing a notice of intent to rely on insanity and to call the psychiatrist as a witness. (T.4). The judge noted that the court had all the reports and defense counsel stated that he had seen only the report of Dr. Miller. (T.5). Defense counsel noted that his expert, Mr. Burglass, found the defendant incompetent. (T.6). Defense counsel than said, "I just think what we should do is allow me to call my psychiatrist at trial, and I will talk to--." (T.6). The judge again permitted that. (T.7).

The trial commenced two days later. D'Oleo-Valdez testified on his own behalf. (R.117-163). He was found guilty as charged, adjudicated and sentenced to 15 years imprisonment and a fine of \$250,000 plus \$12,500 as a surcharge. (R.12-15).

On appeal from the conviction, the Third District Court of Appeal held:

Although he made no such complaint below, the defendant now claims error in the fact that the trial court, upon an appropriate suggestion of incompetency to stand trial, appointed only one examiner to render an evaluation rather than the two provided by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.210. Because the number of examiners is merely a non-fundamental procedural matter -- unlike, for example a total failure to determine competence by failing to secure any expert opinion whatever, Scott v. State, 420 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1982) -- we hold that the failure to bring

the deviation from the rule to the trial court's attention effected a waiver of the contention. [Citation omitted]. We do not read Graydon v. State, 502 So.2d 25 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), to hold otherwise. If we are wrong about this, we think Graydon is wrong.

<u>D'Oleo-Valdez v. State</u>, 516 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). The court also noted that "[n]o point is made of the trial court's ensuing determination to that effect," referring to the actual determination of competency. <u>Id.</u> at n.1.

D'Oleo-Valdez then sought discretionary review in this Court, alleging conflict with <u>Graydon v. State</u>, 502 So.2d 25 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

### POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT A TRIAL COURT'S APPOINTMENT OF ONE EXPERT, AS OPPOSED TO THE TWO REQUIRED UNDER RULE 3.210, FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, TO DETERMINE A DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCY TO STAND TRIAL, DOES NOT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR?

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A violation of Rule 3.210(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, regarding the appointment of at least two experts for a competency determination, does not constitute fundamental error. Fundamental error entails a denial of due process. There is no due process right to at least two experts. Hence, the failure to object to the absence of a second expert at the trial court level precludes this issue from being asserted on appeal. Thus, the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.

### **ARGUMENT**

THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT A TRIAL COURT'S APPOINTMENT OF ONE EXPERT, AS OPPOSED TO THE TWO REQUIRED UNDER RULE 3.210, FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, TO DETERMINE A DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCY TO STAND TRIAL, DOES NOT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

Rule 3.210(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides that if the trial court has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is not mentally competent to stand trial, the court, inter alia, "shall order the defendant to be examined by no more than three nor fewer than two experts prior to the date of said hearing." In the instant case, the order appointing disinterested experts appointed Jackson Memorial Hospital and only one report, that of Dr. Miller, was furnished to the trial court. The defendant did not object to the absence of a report from a second expert. Thus, when the defendant raised this issue on appeal, the Third District Court of Appeal held that "the number of examiners is merely a non-fundamental procedural matter" and that "the failure to bring the deviation from the rule to the trial court's attention effected a waiver of the contention." 516 So.2d 1125.

Errors in the trial court, other than those constituting fundamental error, are waived unless timely raised in the trial

court. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331, 333 (Fla. 1978). Fundamental error "is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action." Moreover, "for error to be so fundamental that it may be urged on appeal, though not properly presented below, the error must amount to a denial of due process." Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981). See also, Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701,704 at n.7 (Fla. 1978); Hargrave v. State, 427 So.2d 713, 715 (Fla. 1983); Fuller v. State, 406 So.2d 1212 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981). Thus, fundamental error requires a due process violation.

When a criminal case raises an issue as to a defendant's competency to stand trial, while there is a right to evaluation and hearing, there is no constitutional due process right to the appointment of two or mroe experts to determine competency. Due process can be fully satisfied through the appointment of just one expert. Thus, a violation of the State's procedural rule would not constitute a due process violation, would not constitute "fundamental error," and would not entitle a defendant to assert such a rule violation on apepal in the absence of timely objection in the trial court. A procedure which does not deny due process of law cannot constitute fundamental error.

Due process, in criminal prosecutions, "must comport with prevailing notions of fundamental fairness." California

v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984). Procedures followed by states will not violate the due process clause unless the procedures offend "some principle of justice so rooted in the conscience of our people as to be ranked as fundamental." Speiser v. Randall, 357 U.S. 513, 523, 78 S.Ct. 1332, 1 L.Ed.2d 1460 (1958), quoted in Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197, 201-202, 97 S.Ct. 2319, 53 L.Ed.2d 281 (1977).

The conviction of an incompetent defendant violates the due process clause. <a href="Drope v. Missouri">Drope v. Missouri</a>, 420 U.S. 162, 95 S.Ct. 896, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975); <a href="Weber v. State">Weber v. State</a>, 438 So.2d 982 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); <a href="Scott v. State">Scott v. State</a>, 420 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1982); <a href="Reynolds v. State">Reynolds v. State</a>, 491 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). However, due process does not mandate that a competency evaluation be predicated on two or more expert evaluations. Due process can be satisfied through the appointment of just one expert.

"Experts appointed by the court to ascertain mental capacity are neither prosecution nor defense witnesses, but neutral experts working for the Court, and their findings and opinions are subject to testing for truth and reliability by both prosecution and defense counsel." Parkin v. State, 238 So.2d 817, 821 (Fla. 1970). See also, Chapman v. State, 391 So.2d 744, 746 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). As a single expert appointed by the court would be a neutral, court witness, there is nothing inherently

flawed, biased or unreliable in such an appointment. Such a process, while violative of the state rule, does not render the process fundamentally unfair. Indeed, even if a second expert were appointed and came to a contrary conclusion, a trial court's conclusion as to competency, based on conflicting testimony and credibility issues, would, for all practical purposes, be beyond the scope of judicial review. Holmes v. State, 494 So.2d 230 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 631, 634-635 (Fla. 1982).

As previously noted, due process entails principles so deeply rooted in the conscience of our people as to be ranked fundamental. Speiser, supra; Patterson, supra. A survey of the incompetency hearing procedures utilized in other jurisdictions clearly reflects that the necessity for appointment of a second expert for evaluation purposes is not fundamental. The overwhelming majority of jurisdictions have statutes or rules which deem competency evaluations adequate if predicated on just one expert's examination and report. 18 U.S.C. \$4241(b). ("... the court may order that a psychiatric or psychological examination of the defendant be conducted." 18.U.S.C. \$4247(b), further provides that "a psychiatric or psychological examination ... shall be conducted by a licensed or certified psychiatrist or clinical psychologist, or, if the court finds it appropriate, by more than one such examiner."); Ark. Stat. Ann. \$5-2-305

(1987) (the court shall appoint at least one expert); Colo. Rev. Stat. \$16-8-111 (does not specify any minimum number of examiners); Idaho Code, §§18-211,212 (at least one expert shall be appointed); Iowa Code Ann. §812.3 (does not specify any minimum number of examiners); Ill. Ann. Stat. Ch. 38-204-13(a) (examination by one or more licensed physicians); Kan. Stat. Ann. §22-3302(3) (the court may order a psychiatric examination and commit the defendant, or the court may appoint two physicians to report to the court); Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. Title 50, \$504.100 (the court shall appoint at least one psychiatrist or psychologist); Me. Rev. Stat. Ann., Title 15, §101B (1987 Supp.) (only requires one examiner, and if that report reflects mental disease, the court shall then order further examination); Md. Code Ann. §12-104 (1987 Supp.) (requires only one examination); Mich. Stat. Ann. §14.800 (1026) (does not specify any minimum number of experts to be appointed); Mass. Ann. Laws, Ch. 123, \$15(a) (requires appointment of one or more experts); Mo. Ann. Stat. \$552.020 (Vernon) (requires appointment of one or more experts); Mont. Code Ann. §46-14-202,203 and 221 (requires appointment of at least one qualified expert); Neb. Rev. Stat. \$29-1823 (the court may order such examination as he deems warranted); N.J. Stat. Ann. §2C:4-5(a) (the court may appoint at least one psychiatrist); N.C. Gen. Stat. \$15A-1002 (the court may appoint one or more impartial experts); N. Dak. Cent. Code §12.1-04-06 (the court may order examination by a licensed psychiatrist); Okla. Stat.

Ann. Title 22, §1175.3 (does not specify any minimum number of experts); Ohio Rev. Code An. \$2945.371(A) (the court may order one or more examinations but not more than three); Or. Rev. Stat. \$161.365 (the court may appoint a psychiatrist); R.I. Gen. Laws §40.1-5.3-3 (the court may order examination by one or more qualified physicians); S.D. Codified Laws Ann. \$23A-10A-3 (1987) Supp.) (the court may order a psychiatric or psychological report be filed with the court); Tenn. Code Ann. §33-7-301 (1987 Supp.) (the court may order examination by a mental health center or a licensed practitioner); Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Ann., Art. 46.02 (3)(a) (no minimum number of examiners is specified); Utah Code Ann. §77-15-5 (the court may commit the defendant to a facility for evaluation or appoint two or more alienists to examine); Vt. Stat. Ann. Tit. 13, §§4814,4815,4817 (examination by a psychiatrist); Va. Code Ann. \$19.2-169.1 (1987 Supp.) (examination by at least one expert); W. Va. Code §27-6A-1 (examination by one or more experts); Wis. Stat. Ann. §971.14(2) (appointment of one or more examiners); Wyo. Stat. §7-11-303 (examination by a designated examiner).

A comparatively small number of jurisdictions, including Florida, require two or more evaluations. Alaska Stat. \$12.47.070; Haw. Rev. Stat. \$\$704-404,405; Ind. Stat. Ann. \$35-36-3-1; Cal. Penal Code Tit. 10, Ch.6, \$1369; Rule 3.210, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure; La. Code Crim. Proc. Art. 644; Nev. Rev. Stat. \$178.415; N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law \$730.20 (McKinney); Pa.

Stat. Ann. §7402; S.C. Code Ann. 44-23-410; Wash. Rev. Code Ann.  $\$10.77.060.^{1}$ 

Thus, Florida belongs to the minority of jurisdictions which provide two or more experts. Such a provision exceeds what is constitutionally mandated by due process of law. Missouri's statute, noted above, which calls for one or more experts, has been declared "constitutionally adequate to protect a defendant's right not to be tried while legally incompetent." Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 173, 95 S.Ct. 896, 43 L.Ed.2d 103 (1975). Similarly, in Williams v. Wyrick, 664 F.2d 193 (8th Cir. 1982), the court held that the statute's failure to authorize a second examination at state expense did not violate either the due process or equal protection clauses of the Constitution. Similarly, State v. Israel, 19 Wash. App. 773, 577 P.2d 631 (1978), found that issues related to the appointment of experts for competency determinations can be waived. Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 105 S.Ct. 1087, 84 L.Ed.2d 53 (1985), dealt with an indigent defendant's right to psychiatric expert assistance, at state expense, when an insanity issue was raised. The Supreme Court concluded that the assistance of just one expert would suffice:

Some jurisdictions have not been accounted for above. Some, such as Connecticut or Georgia, do not appear to have any applicable statutes or court rules. As to other jurisdictions, counsel has thus far either not had access to those state's statutes or has been unable to find any applicable statute.

Many states, as well as the Federal Government, currently make psychiatric assistance available to indigent defendants, and they have not found the financial burden so great as to preclude this assistance. This is especially so when the obligation of the state is limited to provision of one competent psychiatrist, as it is in many states, and as we limit the right we recognize today.

When a state voluntarily chooses to provide a defendant greater rights than those constitutionally mandated, the greater right which is provided does not assume a constitutional magnitude. Thus, Florida's Rules of Criminal Procedure provide broad discovery rights, exceeding any constitutional mandate. Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 559, 97 S.Ct. 837, 51 L.Ed.2d 30 (1977) (there is no general constitutional right to discovery). Thus, when a discovery violation occurs, it does not constitute fundamental error, and such error must be preserved in the trial court. Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 1979); Grimett v. State, 383 So.2d 698 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); Matheson v. State, 468 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). Similarly, Florida's speedy trial rule provides a defendant with greater rights than the sixth amendment constitutional right to a speedy trial. Gallego v. Purdy, 415 So.2d 166 (Fla. 1982); Cox v. State, 398 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980). Here too, a violation of the speedy trial rule, a state procedural rule, does not go to the fundamental fairness of a trial, does not constitute fundamental error, and can be raised on direct appeal only if first raised in the trial

court. Williams v. State, 452 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984);
Oliva v. State, 354 So.2d 1264 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Davis v.
Wainwright, 547 F.2d 261 (5th Cir. 1977). So, too, the
provision of Rule 3.210 pertaining to two examinations does not give rise to fundamental error.

Finally, in the instant case, the trial court did have the benefit of <u>two</u> evaluations. Dr. Miller's evaluation was done pursuant to the order dated October 21, 1985. Prior to that date, the defendant had already obtained the services of Dr. Burglass, whose report was filed on October 21, 1985. His report had concluded that the defendant was not presently able to assist defense counsel in the conduct of the defense. The trial court therefore did have the benefit of two evaluations.

Based on the foregoing, the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal should be affirmed.